RECEIVED

Jul 15 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KAYLA MARIE COOK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001417

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

DANIEL J. WESTBROOK
AMBER M. HENDRICK
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err by failing to grant a mistrial when the lead detective informed the jurors that Appellant's older child, who did not testify, provided evidence that "reinforced" that Appellant caused the death of Minor?

II. Did the trial judge err by allowing the state to introduce evidence that Minor suffered an injury to her arm two-to-four weeks prior to her death where (1) the evidence was irrelevant, (2) the evidence was inadmissible character evidence, and (3) the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 2019, a Lancaster County grand jury indicted Appellant for homicide by child abuse (2018-GS-29-1659). R. 897-898. The state, represented by Luck Campbell and Melissa Dawn McGinnis, called the case to trial before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury on August 12, 2019. R. 1. Ross Alan Burton and Devon Nielson represented Appellant. R. 1. During deliberations, the jury requested to be instructed again on the elements of homicide by child abuse “including the definition of extreme indifference.” R. 874, ll. 19-22; R. 895. Thereafter, the judge re-instructed the jury on the offense of homicide by child abuse. R. 875, l. 8 – R. 876, l. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 877, ll. 17-22. Judge McIntosh sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 890, ll. 3-4; R. 899.

On August 20, 2019, Appellant served her notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant met Timothy Scott “Scotty” Schroeder online in March 2017. R. 684, ll. 17-25. Approximately, two months later, Appellant and her two children moved in with Appellant and his daughter, Minor. R. 685, ll. 18-20; R. 686, ll. 12-14. After moving around a little initially, they settled in a house in Lancaster in November 2017. R. 45, ll. 8-13; R. 689, ll. 2-12.

On Sunday, December 17, 2017, Appellant and Scotty got into an argument that turned into a physical fight. R. 700, ll. 11-21. Thereafter, Appellant called her sister, Kerrin Cook, because Scotty¹ slammed her against the wall while the two fought. R. 497, ll. 11-23; see also R. 536, ll. 14-24; R. 700, ll. 22-24; R. 702, ll. 15-23. While visiting with her sister, Kerrin cut Minor’s hair. R. 498, l. 18 – R. 499, l. 2; R. 703, ll. 13-20. Later that night, Appellant took her older child to her parents’ house for an upcoming trip to Disneyworld. R. 504, l. 20 – R. 505, l. 9; R. 540, l. 24 – R. 541, ll. 14; R. 543, ll. 19-20; R. 544, ll. 7-12; R. 705, ll. 19-24; R. 707, ll. 6-9. Minor was unable to go because she used the bathroom on herself just before they were leaving. R. 705, ll. 19-24. Prior to Appellant’s departure, she saw Scotty whipping Minor with a belt as punishment for soiling herself. R. 706, ll. 14-16. Appellant comforted Minor. R. 706, ll. 16-18. When Appellant left with her two children, Minor was alone with Scotty for several hours. R. 505, ll. 10-12; R. 708, ll. 5-7.

¹ On the day that Minor died, Scotty Schroeder had a scratch on his face presumably from the fight he had with Appellant. R. 536, ll. 4-7; R. 557, ll. 13-16; R. 702, ll. 2-6. However, he initially told police that a piece of metal from a saw scratched his face. R. 557, ll. 15-21. Scotty told the jurors that he lied to the police because he feared he would be arrested for domestic violence because he “put [his] hands on” Appellant during the fight. R. 557, l. 22 – R. 558, l. 3. Additionally, Scotty initially lied to the police about a hole that was in one of the interior doors. R. 560, ll. 6-12. At trial, he claimed that he and Appellant “were kind of arguing” and that when Appellant slammed the door, he stuck his foot out, which went through the door. R. 560, ll. 13-16. Later, he admitted he kicked the door because he was mad at Appellant. R. 568, ll. 17-24.

The following morning, Appellant woke Minor and instructed her to use the bathroom, which she did. R. 712, ll. 3-9. When Appellant checked on Minor, she realized Minor had defecated on herself prior to using the bathroom. R. 712, l. 19 – R. 713, l. 10. Appellant ran a bath for Minor. R. 713, ll. 6-7. Appellant also noticed a bruise on Minor’s abdomen. R. 714, ll. 20-22.

While Minor was in the tub, Appellant began re-arranging the bedrooms for the children to accommodate a new toddler bed for her son. R. 715, ll. 10-15. Appellant heard a “thud,” which she assumed was the dog jumping off the couch. R. 715, ll. 16-20. Her son then started pulling on her. R. 715, ll. 22-25. Appellant realized she had not checked on Minor in a while. R. 715, ll. 20-22. When Appellant checked on Minor, she found Minor on her back in the tub. R. 716, ll. 4-14. Appellant picked Minor up and wrapped her in a towel. R. 716, l. 21 – R. 717, l. 1.

Then, around mid-morning, Appellant’s neighbor, Myrica Jenkins, knocked on her door. R. 302, ll. 24-25; R. 307, ll. 6-14; R. 581, ll. 15-20; R. 717, ll. 2-3. Appellant informed Jenkins that she was busy, and she would catch up with her later. R. 307, ll. 6-25; R. 717, ll. 9-13. Jenkins returned home. R. 308, ll. 9-11. When Appellant returned to Minor, she found her breathing, but not talking, which was not unusual for Minor. R. 718, ll. 2-7. Realizing that Minor was cold, Appellant cleaned and dressed Minor quickly. R. 719, ll. 3-11. Appellant then wrapped Minor in a blanket and set her on the couch with a movie playing. R. 719, ll. 12-19. Soon thereafter, Appellant heard Minor “making a really weird noise, like a – a gurgling noise.” R. 719, ll. 22-24. Appellant immediately rushed to Minor. R. 719, ll. 24-25.

Appellant blew into Minor’s mouth, which prompted Minor to take a breath, but Minor then paused. R. 720, ll. 13-16. Appellant realized something was wrong with Minor. R. 720, ll.

17-18. Unable to find her cell phone, Appellant ran outside to her neighbor's house for help. R. 720, ll. 19-20.

Miriam "Mindy" Myers lived next door to Appellant. R. 377, ll. 20-24. Appellant arrived at Myers' door. R. 380, ll. 1-17. Appellant asked for Myers' help because Minor was not breathing. R. 380, ll. 15-20. Myers and Appellant then ran to Appellant's home. R. 381, ll. 5-7; R. 720, l. 24. Jenkins, the neighbor who earlier knocked on Appellant's door, saw Appellant run to Myers' house. R. 308, ll. 12-22. Appellant was "in a state of panic." R. 308, ll. 24-25. Upon seeing Appellant and Myers return to Appellant's house, Jenkins followed. R. 309, ll. 1-2. Earlene Cochran lived with her daughter, son-in-law, and granddaughter in a home on Heath Circle near Appellant and Scotty. R. 44, ll. 13-25. Cochran's granddaughter often played with Minor and Appellant's children. R. 45, ll. 3-7; R. 582, ll. 13-17. Cochran also saw Appellant run out of the house, screaming that Minor was not breathing. R. 45, ll. 18-22; R. 63, ll. 5-7. Cochran was standing outside, smoking a cigarette at the time. R. 45, ll. 22-24. Cochran ran to Appellant. R. 45, l. 25.

Myers found Minor on the couch covered with a blanket. R. 381, ll. 8-10; R. 720, ll. 24-25. Myers "started just poking everywhere for a pulse." R. 381, ll. 16-17. She also slapped Minor's feet a couple of times. R. 381, ll. 17-18. Unable to detect any signs of breathing or a pulse, Myers "started poking at her abdomen." R. 381, ll. 20-24; R. 721, ll. 4-8 (Appellant testifying that Myers indicated Minor was breathing and had a heartbeat, but they were fading). Myers moved Minor to the floor in order to perform CPR. R. 382, ll. 1-5; R. 720, l. 25 – R. 721, l. 18. Jenkins called 911. R. 309, ll. 16-19. Myers and Cochran administered CPR until the police arrived. R. 47, ll. 5-25; R. 382, ll. 19-25; R. 383, ll. 4-8.

Neither Jenkins nor Cochran ever saw Appellant hit or abuse Minor in any way. R. 50, ll. 16-24; R. 53, ll. 10-12; R. 313, ll. 6-7; see also R. 510, ll. 9-15 (testimony of Appellant's sister that Appellant never hit the children, but used time out for punishment). Generally, Appellant punished the children with time outs. R. 50, l. 18 – R. 51, l. 1; R. 736, l. 21 – R. 737, l. 6. Appellant admitted she “might pop” her son's hand a little for punishment, but noted she generally used time out for discipline. R. 736, l. 21 – R. 737, l. 6.

The police responded to the call for help for Minor. R. 63, ll. 5-25; R. 721, ll. 1-2. The police decided not to wait on EMS to arrive. R. 65, ll. 6-9; R. 160, ll. 10-12. Instead, the officers took Minor to the hospital via patrol car. R. 66, l. 2 – R. 67, l. 2; R. 162, ll. 8-9; R. 721, ll. 13-15. Jenkins drove Appellant to the hospital. R. 310, ll. 23-24; R. 721, ll. 17-18. The officer who carried her noted Minor was dry, including her pajamas, but her hair was damp. R. 68, ll. 15-23. Minor arrived in the emergency room at 12:14 p.m. R. 75, ll. 10-13.

Hospital staff claimed Appellant informed them that Minor fell in the bathtub. R. 83, ll. 2-6; R. 133, ll. 10-20. The emergency room doctor who treated Minor indicated that if he had suspected a head injury, he “may have given a medication called Mannitol to decrease ... intracranial pressure.” R. 107, ll. 104. He admitted he could not say how successful such treatment would have been. R. 107, ll. 6-7. He noted Minor was cold all over, which indicated her injury occurred more than thirty minutes prior to her arrival at the hospital. R. 108, ll. 10-24. Despite life saving measures, Minor was pronounced dead at 1:32 p.m. R. 81, l. 7; R. 110, ll. 14-20.

The state's pathologist, Dr. Janice Ross, conducted the autopsy and concluded Minor died as a result of “cerebral edema ... due to the blunt force injury to the head; and this was contributed to by the hemorrhage in the abdomen.” R. 212, ll. 15-20; see also R. 469, ll. 4-9

(testimony of child abuse pediatrician on cause of death). According to Dr. Ross, Minor did not suffer any skull fractures. R. 220, ll. 14-15. Therefore, she concluded, Minor suffered a closed-head injury. R. 220, ll. 16-24.

In contrast, Dr. Nicholas Batalis, a forensic pathologist who testified on behalf of the defense, criticized Dr. Ross for failing to conduct the proper examination in order to “date that fracture” to Minor’s right arm. R. 648, ll. 9-23. To rebut Dr. Batalis, the state called a different pathologist, Dr. Amy Durso. She agreed with Dr. Batalis that “when there are broken bones, especially in child abuse cases,” she would remove the bone and conduct additional testing to “more accurately date” the injury, which was not done by Dr. Ross. R. 787, l. 24 – R.788, l. 7.

Additionally, Dr. Batalis explained Dr. Ross failed to conduct “two fairly critical examinations ... in the work-up of the head injury.” R. 649, ll. 4-7. Dr. Ross failed to remove the eyes or examine the eyes,” which would be common practice in cases of suspected head trauma. R. 649, ll. 7-11. Examining the eyes would “include the nerves that lead from the brain to the eyes,” and “actually sectioning the eyes themselves to see if there are any hemorrhages in the eyes; specifically to the retina, the back part of the eye.” R. 649, ll. 11-15. This examination was critical because it can show potential abuse. R. 649, ll. 14-17. According to Dr. Batalis, “in any case of suspected child abuse with head trauma, it’s standard practice to do an evaluation of the eyes.” R. 649, ll. 18-20.

Additionally, Dr. Ross “sort of attempted” to conduct “a histologic, or microscopic evaluation of the brain.” R. 649, ll. 20-22. This “sort of attempt” included only two pieces of brain, which did not use “special stains to really help elucidate that there were injuries present in the brain.” R. 649, l. 22 – R. 650, l. 1. Further, Dr. Batalis indicated the brain should have been examined by a neuropathologist, who has specialized training in brain pathology.” R. 650, ll. 2-

15. Dr. Ross conducted a “cursory neurological examination of the brain, microscopic examination of the brain, that frankly did not show any - - any injury.” R. 650, ll. 17-20.

Although Dr. Batalis agreed with Dr. Ross that Minor’s death resulted from the abdominal injury, he disputed the head injury contributed to her death at all. R. 656, ll. 17-23. Significantly, Dr. Durso, who was called to rebut Dr. Batalis, noted that while injury to the head is” always significant,” she did not *focus* on Minor’s head injury in her review of the autopsy. R. 783, ll. 13-18.

Dr. Batalis disagreed with Dr. Ross regarding the head injury, explaining he “disagree[d] with the contention that there [was] significant edema ... and then furthermore that the head trauma was not the ultimate cause of death in this case.” R. 651, ll. 4-7. He noted that the two photographs of the brain showed a normal brain. R. 651, ll. 16-18; R. 652, ll. 7-20. According to Dr. Batalis, any edema to the brain was “not significant enough” to have killed Minor. R. 652, ll. 2-6. While agreeing there were several bruises to the head, he noted there were no skull fractures present, which would have indicated the amount of force used to injure the head. R. 653, ll. 1-9. Further, he explained that “in almost all deaths due to head trauma,” there is “bleeding around the brain.” R. 653, ll. 10-12. Here, there was no bleeding around the brain. R. 653, ll. 10-19. “[T]he only evidence of head trauma” was “a couple of scalp contusions,” which may not have been inflicted and could not explain the child’s death. R. 653, ll. 20-25.

According to Dr. Batalis, the large bruise on Minor’s lower abdomen “had a very distinct coloration to it,” indicating it was not caused by an injury to Minor the morning of her death. R. 656, ll. 1-9. He estimated it was one to three days old. R. 656, ll. 1-9. He further explained there was “a continuous line of injury from that older-looking abdominal bruise, down to the retro-peritoneal hematoma” that caused Minor’s death. R. 657, ll. 16-19. He reiterated the

injury could not have been caused on the morning of Minor's death. R. 657, ll. 20-24. He opined that Minor suffered the fatal injury "at least a day prior" to her death. R. 657, l. 25 – R. 658, l. 4. Nothing in his examination supported the state's theory that Minor died as a result of a beating on the morning of December 18, 2017. R. 658, ll. 13-16.

Dr. Batalis agreed with Dr. Ross that the abdominal injury was caused by "a very significant force." R. 662, ll. 3-6. However, he disagreed that Minor would have been in pain as a result of the bleeding into her abdomen. R. 663, ll. 9-25. He acknowledged the contusion would hurt, but the bleeding would not cause pain. R. 663, ll. 9-25. Further, Dr. Batalis explained that the retro-peritoneal bleeding Minor suffered was a slower bleed. R. 664, ll. 5-12. These types of bleeds "build up over time" until the person reaches "a critical point, and then become[s] symptomatic." R. 664, ll. 12-15. Finally, Dr. Batalis indicated he could not say whether the injury was inflicted. R. 670, ll. 1-8.

In rebuttal, Dr. Durso claimed that based on her review of the slides of the histologic sections, the internal injuries to the abdomen were recent, or within eighteen hours. R. 789, l. 18 – R. 790, l. 22. According to Dr. Durso, the hemorrhages on the slides from the organs and soft tissues showed no signs of hemosiderin, which forms when blood breaks down. R. 789, l. 18 – R. 790, l. 22. She further claimed that "if you see hemosiderin it's probably more than eighteen hours; if you don't see hemosiderin, it's less than eighteen hours." R. 790, ll. 4-6.

Challenging Dr. Batalis on the type of bleeding Minor suffered, Dr. Durso claimed Minor "would've bled out ... within the hour after sustaining these injuries." R. 792, ll. 14-15. She asserted that "injuries to the liver" "bleed very quickly." R. 791, ll. 20-21. Further, Dr. Durso contended Minor would have been symptomatic after sustaining the injuries. R. 792, ll. 16-18.

According to Dr. Durso, Minor died within an hour or two of her arrival at the hospital. R. 793, ll. 7-12; R. 793, ll. 20-23; R. 795, ll. 10-12.

Finally, the child abuse pediatrician claimed Minor would have been symptomatic – including abdominal pain, not eating, not drinking, not walking, not moving – when she suffered the injury to her abdomen. R. 458, l. 18 – R. 459, l. 11. After sustaining the head injury, Minor would have suffered neurologic symptoms, including lethargy, irritability, and non-ambulatory. R. 459, ll. 11-16. The pediatrician claimed Minor suffered the abdominal injury anywhere from “minutes to an hour, ... two at the outside” and the head injury anywhere from “minutes to hours” prior to death. R. 469, ll. 10-20. According to the pediatrician, the abdominal injury may have been caused by child abuse “[i]f there is no plausible accidental history.” R. 484, l. 23 – R. 485, l. 5. In light of the pediatrician unable to find any accident occurring in Minor’s history, the pediatrician opined the abdominal injury was the result of inflicted injuries. R. 485, ll. 6-8. Further, she concluded the injury to Minor’s head were “considered child abuse.” R. 485, ll. 9-11.

The day after Minor’s death, Myers claimed Appellant “started talking about harming herself and killing herself, and wanted to be with [Minor].” R. 387, ll. 10-15; R. 730, ll. 18-25. Myers and Appellant’s mother convinced Appellant to go to the hospital. R. 387, ll. 16-25; R. 727, ll. 16-17; R. 730, ll. 5-20; R. 731, ll. 2-7. On the day of Appellant’s release from the hospital, December 29, 2017, she was arrested for homicide by child abuse. R. 732, l. 16 – R. 733, l. 7.

At all times, Appellant emphatically denied causing Minor’s death. R. 736, ll. 3-4.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by failing to grant a mistrial when the lead detective informed the jurors that Appellant’s older child, who did not testify, provided evidence that “reinforced” that Appellant caused the death of Minor.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Hewins, 409 S.C. 93, 102, 760 S.E.2d 814, 819 (2014). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id.

A trial judge’s decision denying a mistrial will be reversed on appeal if the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. State v. Rowlands, 343 S.C. 454, 458, 539 S.E.2d 717, 719 (Ct. App. 2000). “Whether a mistrial is manifestly necessary is a fact specific inquiry. It is not a mechanically applied standard, but rather is a determination that must be made in the context of the specific difficulty facing the trial judge.” Id. at 457–58, 539 S.E.2d at 719 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Although the decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court, the appellate court must reverse the ruling if the decision was an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 257, 746 S.E.2d 495, 500 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-478, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011).

Relevant facts

Trista Baird was a lieutenant in the child fatality unit for the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED). R. 589, ll. 2-8. According to Agent Baird, “[t]he child fatality

unit at SLED” was “mandated by law to investigate all child deaths.” R. 589, ll. 9-12. Most counties have “a child death investigation task force,” that is “paged out ... when a child has died, or when there is a near death of a child.” R. 589, l. 21 – R. 590, l. 4.

On December 18, 2017, Agent Baird went to Springs Memorial Hospital in response to a call from the Lancaster Police Department seeking assistance related to Minor’s death. R. 592, ll. 19-21. Agent Baird detailed her investigation for the jurors, including her interviews of Scotty Schroeder, Tracy Schroeder, Scotty’s mother, and Appellant. R. 593, ll. 4-12. Additionally, Agent Baird attended the autopsy. R. 598, ll. 4-6.

Thereafter, Agent Baird went to “the Palmetto citizens Against Sexual Assault Center and observed a forensic interview.” R. 601, ll. 9-12. She explained that “[f]orensic interviewers are just trained interviewers that talk to children.” R. 601, ll. 13-16. Thereafter, the following occurred:

Q. And you can’t say what she said, but was Phoebe [Appellant’s older child] able to give the interviewer some information about this case?

A. She was. The forensic in - -

Mr. Burton: Objection, your Honor. None of what Phoebe said is admissible in this court under criminal.

Solicitor Campbell: We agree.

The Court: I understand that, and to the extent she’s going to say what she said I’d sustain it. But if she’s just asking preliminary it’s okay. So overruled.

Solicitor Campbell: We are. We’re going directly from the case, your Honor.

Q. Was she able - - you can’t say what she said at all, okay? But was she able to give you information?

A. Yes. The forensic interview, along with all the other evidence in the case, reinforced the fact that [Appellant] did cause [Minor]’s death.

Mr. Burton: Objection, your Honor. This is ridiculous.

R. 601, l. 17 – R. 602, l. 9. Notably, trial counsel moved in limine to exclude the forensic interview of Phoebe, which was granted by the judge without opposition from the state. R. 14, ll. 15-22.

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