**RECEIVED**

**Jun 29 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lancaster County  
Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001417

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

KAYLA MARIE COOK,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 607  
Lancaster, SC 29721  
(803) 416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

a criminal act against the victim, as the prior acts are evidence of the relationship between the victim and the defendant and may show the defendant's motive, intent, and bent of mind in committing the act against the victim which results in the charges for which the defendant is being prosecuted.”). Meanwhile, the evidence of Appellant's behavior towards Victim concerning the arm injury could *not* logically support a conclusion Appellant had a propensity to inflict the type of significant blunt force trauma injury that caused Victim's death. See State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 30, 842 S.E.2d 654, 657 (2020) (recognizing the inherent risk created by evidence of other similar criminal acts perpetrated by a defendant is the jury will view it as propensity evidence because “[p]roof that a defendant has been guilty of another crime *equally heinous* prompts to a ready acceptance of and belief in the prosecution's theory that he is guilty” (emphasis added and citation and internal quotations omitted)); cf. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (finding evidence Haselden tended to golf, fish, or go to his mother's house presented during a murder trial was not evidence tending to prove Haselden had a tendency towards abusing and murdering his son). Therefore, the evidence of Victim's arm injury and Appellant's response to it was properly admitted as evidence of intent pursuant to Rule 404(b) of our state's evidentiary rules and *not* as improper propensity evidence. Cf. Holder, 382 S.C. at 289, 676 S.E.2d at 969 (“The State's purpose for offering the testimony [regarding Holder's behavioral changes in the weeks preceding her child's death] was not to show Holder had a propensity to abuse her child in conformance with a character trait. Rather, it was to show Holder's strong desire to please Martucci instead of protecting the welfare of her child and to establish an element of the offense, that she manifested an extreme indifference to the well-being of her son.”); State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding prior bad act evidence of a domestic violence incident between Sweat and his purported wife was

admissible to establish intent in a subsequent prosecution arising from an incident where Sweat attempted to attack his wife and her boyfriend).

Finally, the probative value of the evidence concerning Victim's arm injury was high because it shed light on Appellant's mental state and attitude towards the minor victim, which was a disputed issue at trial, while the evidence's potential for prejudice was comparatively low under the circumstances involved. Looking to the evidence's probative value, the State was *required* to prove Appellant's mental state towards Victim was one of extreme indifference, and the evidence regarding Appellant's indifferent response to Victim's arm injury in the weeks leading up to her death constituted compelling circumstantial proof she possessed just such a mental state. See In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970) ("[T]he Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged."); cf. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 8, 545 S.E.2d at 829 (recognizing evidence of Wilson's prior acts was "especially probative" because the State had to circumstantially prove Wilson's intent). Likewise, Appellant strongly disputed she possessed a mental state of extreme indifference towards Victim by both claiming to have loved her and asserting she would "never" have hurt her.<sup>29</sup> See Martucci, 380 S.C. at 253, 669 S.E.2d at 609 ("Because Martucci disputed the motive and intent to commit homicide by child abuse, evidence of the prior abuse or neglect was highly probative of his guilt on the homicide charge. The evidence was necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime

---

<sup>29</sup> By claiming during her testimony she would "never" hurt her children, Appellant arguably offered evidence of her character, and, once she did, the State was entitled to rebut it had it sought to do so. See Rule 404(a)(1), SCRE (permitting the defense to introduce evidence of an accused's character for the purpose of establishing action in conformity therewith and *also* permitting the State to attempt to rebut such evidence with evidence of its own once character evidence has been offered by the defense); cf. Council v. State, 976 So. 2d 889, 902 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) ("Council, by testifying that she 'never fought' or 'bothered nobody,' put at issue her self-acclaimed trait of peacefulness.").

charged.”). Based on those factors, the evidence of Victim’s arm injury was exceedingly probative. See State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012) (explaining probative value is the measure of the importance of a piece of evidence’s tendency to prove or disprove some fact or issue relevant to the outcome of a case), rev’d on other grounds, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). Meanwhile, looking to the evidence’s potential for undue prejudice, the trial judge took proper steps to prevent the arm injury evidence from causing any undue prejudice by specifically instructing the jury on the purposes for which that evidence could and *could not* be considered. See Rule 105, SCORE (“When evidence which is admissible as to one party or for one purpose but not admissible as to another party or for another purpose is admitted, the court, upon request, shall restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury accordingly.”). Moreover, the evidence itself was not particularly graphic or detailed, which helped to ensure it would not have been used by the jury in an improper manner. Cf. State v. Roberson, 988 S.W.2d 690, 696 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1998) (“The evidence of the non-fatal injuries was not gruesome; the injuries were not remote in time from the fatal trauma; they were not life-threatening; and there was no direct proof that [Roberson] had caused them. The dangers and considerations with which Rule 403 is concerned were simply minor when weighed against the probative value of this proof.”). Under such circumstances, the evidence’s high probative value was not “substantially outweighed” by its potential for undue prejudice, and the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by choosing to admit it. Rule 403, SCORE; cf. Dial, 405 S.C. at 261, 746 S.E.2d at 502 (“We find the photographs were highly probative to the issues of whether Victim was abused and whether the abuse was the cause of his death, which are integral elements to the charge of homicide by child abuse. Thus, we find the danger of unfair prejudice did not

outweigh the photographs' probative value, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting them." (citation omitted)).

Accordingly, for all those reasons, the evidence related to Victim's arm injury was properly admitted during trial as proof of the extreme indifference element of the charged crime, and the trial judge's decision to admit the evidence for that limited purpose was fully supported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial. See Martucci, 380 S.C. at 253, 669 S.E.2d at 609 ("If there is any evidence to support the admission of bad act evidence, the trial judge's ruling cannot be disturbed on appeal."); see also State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 594 (Ct. App. 2001) ("A trial judge's balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence. If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." (citations omitted)), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**B. Harmlessness of Any Error in the Admission of the Objected-To Evidence Regarding Victim's Arm Injury**

Even if a trial judge improperly admitted inadmissible evidence during the course of a trial, reversal is not automatically warranted on appeal as such an error may have been harmless under the circumstances involved. See State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) ("Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless."). When conducting a harmless error analysis, an appellate court must ordinarily review the record as a whole to ascertain the impact of an error. Baccus, 367 S.C. at 55, 625 S.E.2d at 223; see United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S.

499, 509 (1983) (“[I]t is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations.”). The harmlessness of an error generally depends on its materiality in relation to the case as a whole. Haselden, 353 S.C. at 196, 577 S.E.2d at 448. Significantly, after reviewing the entire record, the appellate court will typically not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result, and errors are generally deemed harmless when they do not contribute to the verdict. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991).

In Appellant’s case, defense counsel—at several different points during trial—raised contemporaneous objections when evidence was presented concerning Victim’s arm injury. Through that objected-to evidence, the jury heard: (1) Victim’s arm was bruised at the time of her death; (2) Victim was showing signs of an arm injury a few weeks earlier; (3) Appellant was aware of that particular injury; (4) the injury was causing Victim pain; (5) Appellant claimed it was sustained when Victim fell off a bed and further stated Victim said her mother did it while pointing to her; and (6) Appellant asserted the injury was only a sprain. Meanwhile, at other points during trial, evidence about Victim’s arm injury was introduced *without* contemporaneous objection. Through that *unobjected-to* evidence, the jury similarly heard: (1) Victim’s arm was bruised and swollen at the time of her death; (2) Victim was showing signs of an arm injury a few weeks earlier; (3) Appellant was aware of that injury; (4) the injury was painful for Victim; (5) Appellant claimed—on multiple different occasions—it was sustained when Victim fell off a bed; (6) Appellant alleged the injury was only a sprain; and (7) Victim’s arm had actually been fractured. Beyond that, Appellant offered several witnesses in her own defense, and, through their highly-similar testimony, the jury heard Victim’s arm was injured a few weeks before she died, the injury was painful, Appellant claimed it occurred from a fall off a bed, and Victim’s

arm was, in fact, broken. Moreover, Appellant personally testified about Victim's arm injury, and, in doing so, she confirmed she was aware of it, was present when it was sustained, and had heard Victim complain about it on multiple occasions prior to her death.

Under such circumstances, the objected-to evidence regarding Victim's arm injury was cumulative to other virtually-identical evidence admitted without objection. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) ("Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence."); cf. State v. Holley, 136 S.C. 68, \_\_\_, 134 S.E. 213, 215 (1926) (instructing an appellate challenge to the trial judge's admission of objected-to testimony could not be sustained because "another witness for the state . . . testified, without objection, to substantially the same facts"). Likewise, it was also cumulative to other virtually-identical testimony provided by defense witnesses, including *Appellant herself*. See State v. Washington, 315 S.C. 108, 110, 432 S.E.2d 448, 449 (1993) ("Appellant may not now be heard to complain of the admission of evidence elicited by his own counsel."); see also Ohler v. United States, 529 U.S. 753, 756 (2000) (recognizing the "well-established commonsense principle" that "a party introducing evidence cannot complain on appeal that the evidence was erroneously admitted" and citing approvingly to the proposition an objection is waived "[i]f a party who has objected to evidence of a certain fact himself produces evidence from his own witness of the same fact" (citations and internal quotations omitted)); cf. State v. Richardson, 358 S.C. 586, 596-597, 595 S.E.2d 858, 863 (Ct. App. 2004) (finding any error in the admission of purported improper character evidence to be harmless because "the testimony was cumulative to other similar testimony that was admitted without objection[,] including to Richardson's *own* unobjected-to testimony).

Critically, because the objected-to evidence about Victim’s arm injury was merely cumulative to similar unobjected-to evidence about the very same subject, any possible error in the admission of the challenged evidence during trial could not have prejudiced Appellant or had any impact on the outcome of her case. See State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 293, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[T]he admission of improper evidence is deemed harmless if it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); cf. State v. Braxton, 343 S.C. 629, 635, 541 S.E.2d 833, 836 (2001) (concluding the trial judge’s erroneous admission of “inadmissible character evidence” was harmless because the improperly-admitted evidence was cumulative to other evidence presented); State v. Barron, 268 S.C. 318, 319, 233 S.E.2d 110, 110 (1977) (“We agree that it was error to allow the State to introduce evidence of appellant’s character when he had not first tendered that issue. This was, however, harmless error due to the later admission of identical reputation testimony without objection.” (citations omitted)). Accordingly, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred by admitting the challenged evidence, any conceivable error in that regard was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and that was particularly true given the compelling nature of the other substantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt presented during trial, which—aside from the opinion of a lone defense expert who testified in a manner that conflicted with and was undermined by his own past scholarly work—established Victim’s fatal blunt force trauma injuries were inflicted at a time when Victim was in Appellant’s exclusive care. See Fletcher, 379 S.C. at 25, 664 S.E.2d at 484 (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”); see also State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) (“Given the abundant evidence of Tench’s guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION